IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLOIRDA

FILED SID J. WHITE MAY 9 1985

GULF POWER COMPANY,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT,

Case Wo Chief Deputy Glerk

vs.

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

G. EDISON HOLLAND, JR.
Beggs & Lane
P. O. Box 12950
Pensacola, Florida 32576
904/432-2451
Attorneys for Appellant
 Gulf Power Company

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Gulf Power Company will be referred to as
"Gulf Power", "Gulf" or "the Company." Appellee, Florida Public
Service Commission, will be referred to as "Public Service
Commission" or "the Commission". Southern Company Services will
be referred to as "SCS", "Southern Services, or "the Services."
References to the record will be designated "R,"
the transcript of the final hearing held on August 23, 1984, "T
," and the Appendix to this brief, "Appendix"

STATEMENT OF CASE

In early April of 1981, Gulf Power Company requested a meeting with the Commission Staff to discuss commencing an accrual for recovery of reclamation and closure costs which were expected to be incurred upon closure of the Maxine Mine in June of 1984. The meeting took place on April 8, 1981. Gulf Power commenced the accrual on March 1, 1981. Discussions with the Commission Staff preliminary to the May 1982 fuel adjustment hearings indicated that the Commission intended to take up the subject of the Maxine Mine closure and reclamation accrual during the course of those hearings. By letter dated April 30, 1982, counsel for Gulf Power requested that the subject of the Maxine Mine closure be considered at a separate hearing. Tr 48. The request was granted by Order No. 10783, which provided as follows:

ORDERED by the Florida Public Service Commission that the question of the prudency of purchases by Gulf Power Company from Alabama By-Product Corporation's Maxine Mine shall be considered at a hearing separate from the true-up hearings set for May, 1982. It is further

ORDERED that any delay in considering the issue of prudency shall not be to the prejudice of the Commission's power to act and any decision at such later time shall be as though entered in conjunction with the true-up hearings.

By notice dated August 31, 1982, the Commission set a final hearing for September 22, 1982. On September 9, 1982, Gulf Power Company filed its motion for continuance based upon the anticipated unavailability of its key witness, J. Gibson

Lanier. By order dated September 16, 1982, Order No. 11171, Gulf Power's motion for a continuance was granted. By notice dated October 29, 1982, the hearing was rescheduled for December 13, 1982. On December 13, 1982, the Commission issued Order No. 11408 continuing the hearing to January 17, 1983, and clarifying the scope of the hearing. In that order, the Commission held that the issues to be addressed in the hearing were:

(a) Whether the prices paid by Gulf Power Company for Maxine Mine coal during the period January 1, 1981 through September 30, 1982, were reasonable and prudently incurred, and, if not, what amount should be disallowed for that period;

The hearings were later rescheduled and held on September 15 and 16, were reconvened on September 28, and were concluded on September 29, 1983. The Commission's order requiring refund was issued on June 22, 1984, with the order becoming final on July 6, 1984. (Order No. 13452, Appendix A) R 146. Gulf filed its motion for reconsideration on July 23, 1984. R 171. The Public Counsel also filed a motion for reconsideration on August 6, 1984. R 202. The Commission's order denying the motions for reconsideration was issued on February 15, 1985. Order No 14089, R 229. Gulf filed its appeal of the Commission's decision on February 28, 1985. R 231.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1949, the four operating companies of the Southern Electric System conducted an in-depth review of fuel alternatives. Based on this review, a decision was made for the operating companies to rely on coal as their primary generating fuel source. Shortly thereafter, Gulf Power began construction of the first pulverized coal-fired generating unit in Florida at the Scholz Plant. The first unit (40MW) began commercial operation in early 1953, and the second unit was completed shortly thereafter. A reliable coal supply was sought. Since the demands of the Scholz Plant alone were too small to justify the development of an economically sized, dedicated mine, and the Scholz Plant was originally jointly owned by Alabama Power, Georgia Power, and Gulf Power, a mine contract involving all three companies was sought. Tr 684-685.

On August 19, 1952, the Maxine Mine contract was entered into by Gulf, Alabama, and Georgia, as purchasers, and Alabama By-Product Corporation (hereinafter ABC), as the operator. (Ex. 3, Sch. 1) The contract was viewed as offering Gulf a high quality washed coal product, multiple transportation modes (barge, rail, and truck), attractive transportation costs to Gulf's service area, supply and demand diversity from multiple operating company participation, and association with a strong and stable coal mining operator. Tr 685-686.

From the early 1950's through the early 1960's the Maxine contract provided Gulf with a reliable, low cost source

of quality coal. On several occasions, the contract term was extended. In 1963, Gulf Power Company was afforded the opportunity to enter into arrangements for the purchase of natural gas from United Gas Company and coal from Pittsburg and Midway Coal Company (P & M) at a lower delivered cost per million BTU than it was currently paying for the delivered Maxine coal. Negotiations were entered into between the three operating companies involved in the Maxine contract and Southern Company Services, Inc. (SCS). On December 31, 1963, an agreement was executed which ultimately reallocated the output of coal from Maxine America Mine to Alabama Power. The original contract had allocated production 33-1/3% to each operating company. contract reallocating production also provided that any "excess" of cost to Alabama Power as a result of its taking all of the output of Maxine Mine, as compared to possible other competing sources of coal, was to be shared by Georgia Power Company and Gulf Power Company. Tr 690-691. (Ex. 3, Sch. 11) estimated that during the period this reallocation amendment was in effect, Gulf Power Company saved its customers well over one million dollars. Tr 715. (Ex. 3, Sch. 26)

In late 1968, due primarily to an underground mine fire in the DeKovan Mine of P & M, Gulf's major coal supplier, Gulf developed a critical coal situation. It was estimated that the DeKovan Mine would be able to resume operation after a delay of two or three years. Gulf therefore began seeking an immediate source of substitute coal.

Upon determining the need, Southern Company Services,
Inc. and Gulf Power Company conducted a study of possible
alternative sources of coal. This analysis indicated that Maxine
Mine offered a supply of coal which had the advantage of being
immediately available, was competitive with alternative sources on
a "cost per ton" basis, and was more than competitive on a cost
per million BTU basis due to the unusually high quality and heat
content of the Maxine coal. For these reasons, Gulf decided to
purchase an appropriate amount of Maxine coal to substitute for
the anticipated temporary loss of the DeKovan coal.

The DeKovan Mine did not resume production. The owners of the DeKovan Mine declared a "force majeure", terminating the contract. Gulf disagreed, deeming the failure to resume production the result of the contract price being less than the cost of production. Gulf sued P & M, and ultimately recovered a settlement of \$1.6 million, which was passed on to Gulf's customers.

The loss of the DeKovan production dictated that Gulf find a permanent substitute source of coal beyond 1972. Gulf decided to reinstate its one-third share of the Maxine production. This decision was based on the fact that Maxine coal was economical, especially when considered in terms of cost per million BTU and the demonstrated immediate availability and reliability of the source of supply. Tr 691-694. During this period of time, Gulf's problems with the DeKovan and Peabody coal had led to critical shortages on Gulf's coal stockpile. (Ex. 3, Sch. 28) In a meeting on December 27, 1973, Mr. E. L. Addison of Gulf Power informed to Peabody Coal Company of Gulf's critical shortage and sought Peabody's continued

effort to correct the serious problems with production in the Eagle No. 2 Mine. At this point, Gulf was in the worst condition of all Florida utilities from a fuel reserve standpoint. (Ex. 3, Sch. 34) ABC had demonstrated for the past twenty years that it could provide the much needed economy and reliability for the past twenty years, and offered an immediate source of coal to allay the critical shortages on Gulf's coal stockpile.

In order to prevent the expiration of the Maxine contract in mid-1974, an option to extend had to be exercised on or before January 1, 1974. The formal extension provision provided as follows:

If this agreement is not cancelled or terminated by buyer prior to the expiration of the term hereof, and if the recoverable coal has not been or prior thereto been worked out, then the buyer shall have the right or option, upon six (6) months' notice to seller prior to the expiration of such term, to renew or extend this agreement as to all of its terms and conditions for a further period of ten (10) years or until the recoverable coal is earlier mined or worked out.

(Ex. 3, Sch. 5) Tr 723. (Emphasis added)

In early 1972, Alabama, Gulf and Georgia, in conjunction with Southern Company Services, began the formal process of considering an extension of the Maxine America Agreement. In a series of correspondence, telephone conversations, and meetings between and among the operating companies and Southern Company Services, the wisdom of exercising the extension was discussed. As stated above, one of Gulf's primary concern was obtaining a reliable, economical source of coal. In addition to the devastating effect of the default by P & M under the DeKovan Agreement, and Gulf's Crist Unit 7 coming on line in 1973, Gulf was continuing to experience

considerable difficulties under its long-term agreements with Island Creek Coal Company and Peabody Coal Company. Its coal inventory remained dangerously low. Tr 725 (Ex. 3, Sch. 33, 34 & 35; Ex. 5, Sch. 16)

Southern Company Services recommended that Gulf exercise its option to extend the Maxine contract. This was done on the basis of comparisons of delivered cost of alternative sources meeting Gulf's requirement from a quantity and quality standpoint; the state of the coal market from a supply standpoint; the existing environmental uncertainties; and Gulf's then existing coal supply program and inventory levels. It was determined that Maxine offered a reliable, cost effective, flexible (from a transportation standpoint), high quality (wash), and large quantity source of supply. Tr 722, 962-963.

In deciding whether to accept the recommendation of Southern Company Services, one of Gulf's primary concerns was production. The America Seam, which had been the subject of the 1952 contract, lay under the Pratt Seam, which as of the time of the 1972-1974 negotiations had been unmined. By agreement dated September 8, 1970, Alabama Power Company was given an option to have ABC mine the Pratt Seam. (Ex. 5, Sch. 15A) By letter dated May 22, 1972, Mr. William G. Lalor, Jr., of Southern Company Services, Inc., transmitted to Gulf Power Company the estimated production schedule for the America and Pratt Seams from 1972 through 1996. (Ex. 5, Sch. 15B) This production schedule indicated a gap in the America Seam production between

1980 and 1986. The reason for the anticipated gap in production was the necessity to leave pillars of coal in the America Seam in order to support mining of the Pratt Seam above. Concerned about the gap in production, Gulf, in a series of correspondence and conversations, raised the question of how the gap could or should be dealt with under the Maxine America Agreement, particularly as it related to the rights and obligations between Gulf and Alabama under an extension. Tr 648-650. Gulf's concern was that it recover its share of the Maxine coal in regular annual quantities without interruption from development of the Pratt Seam. Receipt of its share of America Seam production from the Pratt Seam was advantageous to Gulf in that the Pratt coal offered a higher BTU content, lower ash, and lower sulfur content than the America Seam coal. (Ex. 5, Sch. 16)

It is clear from the correspondence that Gulf anticipated receiving its share of the America Seam coal, through both the America Seam and Pratt Seam, at the 1972 rate of production. At this rate of production, Gulf would have received its full share of the America Seam coal between 1977 and 1979. This was the sole basis for the several references to 3-to-5 year extensions in the correspondence. Tr 725-726, 802-803.

By letters dated May 17, 1972 and October 25, 1972, George Layman of Gulf Power notified Southern Company Services of Gulf's concurrence in the recommendation of Southern Company Services fuel department that the Maxine contract be extended for total recovery and a share of the output. (Ex. 5, Sch. 16, Sch. 17) By letter dated December 19, 1973, W. H. Haynes, Jr.,

of Southern Services, Inc., requested that Gulf Power Company and Alabama Power Company once again express concurrence in the extension prior to the exercise deadline of January 1, 1974.

(Sch. 5, Ex. 17C) By letter dated December 27, 1973, from George Layman to Mr. Haynes, Gulf Power expressed its concurrence in the exercise of the option. (Ex. 5, Sch. 18A) By letter dated December 28, 1973, the option was exercised to extend the agreement for a period of ten (10) years from June 30, 1974 or until the recoverable coal was earlier mined or worked out. (Ex. 3, Sch. 40; Ex. 5, Sch. 17E) Tr 727.

An amendment exercising the buyers' option to extend the Maxine America agreement and amending the agreement in other areas was forwarded to Gulf Power Company on July 18, 1974 for execution. (Ex. 3, Sch. 43) On July 22, 1974, John Howard of Gulf Power wrote Southern Company Services, inquiring about the amendment and its failure to address Gulf's obligation after it had received its proportionate share of the America Seam reserves. (Ex. 5, Sch. 22) Gulf had agreed to the basic terms of the extension and deliveries thereunder, but was concerned about the agreement between it and Alabama Power regarding Gulf's receiving its proportionate share of the America Seam reserves out of the Pratt Seam. Thereafter, the production schedule changed drastically, additional reserves were added, and the depletion of America Seam reserves slowed so that America production was contemplated on a continuous basis beyond June 30, 1984, one of the termination dates specified in the extension of the Maxine America Agreement. In other words,

there was no longer projected to be a gap in production between 1980 and 1986, the basis of Gulf's prior concern regarding its ability to receive its share of the Maxine production on a continuous basis. Tr 728-729, 802-803, 878. (Ex. 3, Sch. 44, 45, 46 & 47)

In late 1973, the coal market, as well as all energy markets erupted, primarily as a result of the Arab oil embargo. The national UMWA strike also affected the coal market. In 1974 the average cost of Maxine FOB mine was \$14.35/ton. In 1975 it was \$18.72/ton. This price, for both years, was considerably lower than alternate fuel sources. During this period it is estimated that Gulf Power Company saved its customers approximately \$8,130,429.00, with its participation in the Maxine contract. Tr 730. (Ex. 3, Sch. 48 and 49)

During 1973, Maxine Mine produced approximately

1,223,000 tons at a cost of approximately \$10.34/ton. Over the

twenty years prior to 1974, it had produced a total of

approximately 25,810,614 tons of high quality coal at an average

price of approximately \$5.83/ton. Tr 695-696. In 1974, both

production and production costs at Maxine again seemed

relatively stable. Mine production and mine labor productivity

began to decline in 1975. During that year, Maxine America

produced 942,736 tons at an approximate cost of \$18.72/ton. In

1976, the decline continued and the mine produced only 751,518

tons at an approximate cost of \$22.09/ton. It was during this

period that Gulf Power and Southern Company Services became

concerned about the future economic viability of Maxine Mine.

Southern Company Services personnel immediately began discussions with ABC's operating personnel, who assured the Services that the trend was short-term and due to local conditions being encountered which were expected to improve.

Southern Company Services received ABC's mining plans and projections in May of 1977, and after a thorough analysis of the projections became convinced that the plans and budget as submitted were unworkable. The mining plans and budget were rejected. ABC submitted revised projections and budgets in October of 1977. Southern Company Services again advised Alabama Power Company and Gulf Power Company that it could not recommend approval of the budget.

In November of 1977, Services' employees met once again with ABC management to discuss the future of Maxine Mine. ABC personnel were requested to develop cost projections for Maxine Mine through termination of the America Seam operations and for an interim period while new mining plans and capital budgets were being developed. Numerous meetings were held to discuss the problems with each of the operating companies, as well as with ABC. In the course of those meetings, the Services recommended, in view of the diversity of opinions as to the continued economic viability of Maxine Mine, that an independent mining consulting firm be retained to conduct a separate study. Gates Engineering Company of Beckley, West Virginia, was selected to conduct the study. The initial Gates' report was received in September, 1978, with the final supplement and revision being received in May of 1979. (Ex. 3, Sch. 19)

Shortly before receipt of the final Gates' study, in April of 1979, the Services received from ABC an "addendum" to their mining plan, a plan which would provide for phase down and ultimate phase out of Maxine Mine by June 30, 1984. Tr 701-702.

For the most part, the Gates' study confirmed the conclusions previously reached by Southern Company Services and its operating companies, i.e., that there appeared to be no economically viable alternative to the closure of Maxine Mine, at a date to be determined by economic evaluation of the various alternatives available. These alternatives included immediate giving of 12-months' closure notice to ABC (an alternative that ABC disputed); closure on June 30, 1984; or, if possible, to negotiate an immediate closure. The operating companies instructed the Services to meet with officials of ABC to advise them of the company's position and to explore any alternatives which might be offered by ABC which could result in lowering the cost of coal to the operating companies.

On May 10, 1979, representatives of Southern Company Services met with officials of ABC, advising them of the necessity of closure of Maxine Mine if a viable alternative to lower the cost of coal could not be found. ABC was requested to advise of any viable alternative or in the absence of such, to provide its best estimates of closure costs under each scenario, i.e., immediate closure, closure beginning after twelve months' notice, and closure on June 30, 1984.

At this meeting, the officials of ABC indicated that they would not agree to immediate closure and advised Southern

Company Services that, in their opinion, the right to close the mine on twelve months' notice was no longer a legally effective contract provision. They did agree to evaluate any possible alternatives and advise Southern Company Services. One of the alternatives which had been discussed was the possible utilization of the Maxine coal in ABC's own coking operations. Following the meeting, ABC advised Southern Company Services officials that there was no possibility of utilization of the Maxine coal in their own coking operations. Further, there was no sale for the coal in ABC's own markets, and ABC had no production at low cost which would be available for blending in order to reduce the cost of Maxine coal. Tr 702-703.

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