FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GULF POWER COMPANY,

Appellant,

٧.

JOHN R. MARKS, et al., in the official capacity as and constituting the Florida Public Service Commission,

Appellee.

CLERK, SUPKEME COUNTY

CASE NO. 66,632

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

WILLIAM S. BILENKY General Counsel

PAUL SEXTON Associate General Counsel

JIM KLINDT Research Assistant

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301-8153 (904) 488-7464

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

There are analogous adjustments for the telephone companies. In Citizens v. Florida Public Service Commission, 415 So.2d 1268 (Fla. 1982), the Commission opened a docket in September 1980 to consider the represcription of depreciation rates (an expense) for calendar year 1980. On January 1981, the Commission entered an order approving the represcription of depreciation rates making those expenses recoverable effective on January 1, 1980. This effective date was nine months prior to opening the docket.

Public Counsel (like the utility here) argued that depreciation represcription "is not a bookkeeping entry but, rather, constitutes a retroactive change in the rate base," citing to, as the Appellant has, City of Miami v. Florida Public Service

Commission, 208 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1968). This Court held that the reliance was misplaced in that the case did not concern rate

making. It is simply the recovery of an expense.

Shortly after the Citizens case was decided, the Commission was again faced with represcribing depreciation rates for telephone companies. This time the represcription of depreciation expenses lowered the rates to be charged the consumer, and Southern Bell appealed. In Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. Florida Public Service Commission, 443 So.2d 92 (Fla. 1983), Bell contended that the Commission had not comported with the essential requirements of law in making an adjustment to past depreciation expense. It was precisely the reverse situation from the Citizens case. However, the Company did not make the challenge to the adjustment as retroactive rate making. It had become established law that the Commission could adjust past The Court found that the Commission decision incurred expenses. was supported by competent evidence and was in compliance with the essential requirements of law. The represcription of depreciation expenses like fuel adjustment is an after-the-fact adjustment to an expense. In the case for fuels it is done periodically and like represcription, results in both increases and decreases to the charges.

In <u>Citizens</u>, the ratepayers were complaining that the Commission had increased an historical expense (causing rates to go up) and the utility supported that after-the-fact treatment of the expense. In <u>Southern Bell</u>, the utility was complaining about an after-the-fact reduction of an expense and the Citizens were supporting that position. This second situation is the case here. Fuel adjustment is a two-edged sword that fairly cuts both ways.

The Appellant cites to Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Co. v. Florida Public Service Commission, 453 So.2d 780 (Fla. 1984), for the proposition that the Commission may not adjust rates on a retroactive basis. The case is supportive of the Commission's position. In Bell, Southern Bell and General Telephone Company had been dividing intrastate long distance toll revenues pursuant to two settlement agreements. These revenues were derived from tariffs filed with the Commission. The tariffs had been established and approved during rate case proceedings and constituted part of the companys' base rates. The revenues derived from those agreements contained substantial profits and contributed to the companies' earnings. The two companies got into a dispute concerning the method of calculating the division of those revenues. The parties could not reach agreement on the division for almost a year prior to bringing the issue to the Commission for resolution. The Commission resolved the controversy and applied the adjustment to revenues earned a year prior to assuming jurisdiction over the controversy. This the Court found was retroactive rate making.

Here, the Commission has not changed the filed tariffs of the utility nor has it affected the earnings of the utility except to the extent that the stockholders are bearing the risk of management imprudence and not the ratepayer. No company is guaranteed a rate of return. If it acts imprudently in the handling of an expense, the stockholders and not the ratepayer bear the risk through the diminution of earnings.

Long-Term Contract Review

Another reason for the Commission having the ability to review the expenses associated with fuel contracts occurs when a utility plans for the construction of a new facility. When the boilers are initially designed, they are designed to burn a particular fuel. Coals significantly vary in characteristics requiring the specification of coal at the time of design. Often utilities will purchase reserves of coal before the construction of the boiler commences to ensure the availability of the particular fuel when the facility goes into service six or seven years later. The Commission cannot review the prudence of the purchase or the contract provisions for that fuel until: 1) the utility seeks to pass the costs on to the consumer in a fuel adjustment proceeding; and 2) the company raises the issue of prudence. That could be years after the contract was executed.

The Commission's review of a contract has no effect upon the enforceability of that contract between the utility and the provider of fuel. City of Plant City v. Mayo, 337 So.2d 966 (Fla. 1976). The Commission has no jurisdiction to regulate the contracts executed between the utility and its suppliers. The Commission's authority lies with regulating the effect that that contract has on utility rates and charges. After the utility has incurred the expenses pursuant to the agreement and attempts to recover those expenses, the Commission may determine the prudence of that contract if the issue is raised. In determining prudence, the Commission applies a "public interest" test. The logical justification for this procedure lies in the Commission's

statutory authority. The Commission only has need determination authority for the certification of new power plants pursuant to section 403.519, Florida Statutes. There is no prior determination of the specific fuel requirements nor is there a review of the prudence of any decision regarding fuel contracts prior to the request for the recovery of those costs and a request to determine prudence.

Other Authority Cited

The Appellant cites to the City of Miami v. Florida Public Service Commission, supra, for the proposition that the Commission cannot engage in retroactive rate making. The Commission agrees with the proposition and contends that the case is supportive of the Commission's position in this case. In City of Miami, Southern Bell and Florida Power and Light were found to have rates in effect that were unreasonably high. The Commission ordered the rates reduced and made certain accounting adjustments which the City contended were departures from the essential requirements of Point D raised by the City asserted that the Commission erred in allowing the Companies to keep excessive base rate earnings realized through lawfully imposed tariffs collected prior to the test year. The Court correctly recognized that for rate making purposes, base rates are set prospectively; giving the company an opportunity to earn a reasonable rate of return on investment used and useful in the public service. (At 259-260). Had the Commission attempted to adjust future earnings to reduce past over-earnings by the company from the ratepayer, it would have engaged in retroactive rate making.

In this proceeding, the Commission is neither considering base rates to be "thereafter charges for services" nor is it looking at over-earnings or earnings at all. It is concerned with past expenses and an overcharge for fuels. The Commission is not dealing with a case of the prospective operation of base rates. The prohibition against retroactive rate making does not apply to this continuous proceeding.

Res Judicata

Generally:

The fuel adjustment proceeding is an on-going, continuous proceeding wherein each projection is a projection of the aggregate of all past misestimations and errors. The doctrine of res judicata and estoppel by judgment are inapplicable to continuous proceedings. Beverly Beach Properties, Inc. v. Nelson, 68 So.2d 604 (Fla. 1953). By its very design, the fuel adjustment proceeding is intended to continuously adjust for past cumulative misestimations and errors prospectively. This is necessary because of the large fluctuations in fuel costs and usage and the fact that the charge is based upon estimates.

Using a weighted average cost of fuels simplifies the accounting and reflects the fact that coal and oil are fungible and not identifiable on the pile or in the tank as being related to any one purchase. However, using a weighted average fuel cost means that an increment of the cost of fuel purchased in 1980 is still being recovered in this and every month's fuel adjustment clause.

Recovery of cost and a determination of prudence are the two

distinct elements of setting fuel charges. The first, recovery of cost, is an imprecise accounting method of projecting use and costs and setting rates to recover those costs. An incremental factor is added to adjust for past misestimations and errors. The second element, the determination of prudence, usually occurs in an evidentiary hearing and deals with how the companies entered into their agreements and made their decisions.

To apply the principles of res judicata to Commission proceedings works a manifest injustice on the utilities and the customers of the utility. After a utility has sought and received a rate increase it would be foreclosed from raising any rate making issues in any subsequent hearing. The reason for this is that the doctrine of res judicata would bar a subsequent suit between the same parties on an identical cause of action and would be conclusive as to all issues that were or could have been raised. A utility's rate base, once established could never be changed. Expenses once determined could not be adjusted because of inflation. Estoppel by judgment would bar relitigating issues common to both actions that were actually adjudicated in the first action. Gordon v. Gordon, 59 So.2d 40, 44 (Fla. 1952). Thus, any rate setting issue decided by the Commission in an earlier proceeding would be barred from subsequent relitigation if the doctrines were to be applied. It is arguably for this reason that this Court held that the doctrine would create injustice and unfairness and was not applicable to the Commission's decision.

In <u>Matthews v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 149 (Fla. 1933), this Court stated:

An order of the railroad commission made pursuant to chapter 14764, Acts of 1931, while quasi judicial in character, is not res adjudicata of another application of exactly the same nature subsequently filed. Every promulgated order of an administrative tribunal, such as is the railroad commission, may be superseded by another order. Likewise the commission has the power to modify, and indeed, it is its duty to modify, its pre-existing orders, when new evidence is presented which warrants a change.

In this proceeding, no evidence had ever previously been presented concerning the prudence of the purchases from the Maxine Mine. This proceeding brought forward evidence for the first time, warranting the refund of recoveries of imprudent expenses. The decision as to whether res judicata applies to an issue in a particular administrative proceeding is a decision made by the administrative agency. If the Court assumes that res judicata is applicable to Commission proceedings, it is the Commission that decides whether to apply the doctrine. That determination is reversible only where the body acted with "manifest" and "flagrant" abuse of its discretion. Coral Reef Nurseries, Inc. v. Babcock Co., 410 So.2d 648, 655 (Fla. App. 3d 1982).

The question here would be whether the commission flagrantly abused its discretion in rejecting the claim that the proceeding was barred by the principles of res judicata or estoppel by judgment. Appellant does not assert that the decision was a manifest and flagrant abuse of discretion.

Appellant relies upon the fact that the Company, in a verified petition for projected rates, made the apparent allegation that it acted prudently in purchasing fuel. The verification was by the

representative of the firm who, although competent to testify as to how much fuel was purchased, how much fuel was burned and what it cost, was incompetent to testify as to whether the company was prudent in its purchasing practices (Ex. 9, Vol. IV, Tr. 379-384, February, 1983, projection hearing). Prudence is not reviewed when a company simply projects future costs and consumption. It should be offered for proof during true-up. As stated in Order No. 13452, Gulf never alleged nor sought to prove the prudence of its actions in the after-the-fact true-up hearings. There was no testimony presented in the records of the fuel adjustment proceedings demonstrating that the company acted prudently. The Company only met its burden as to how much money was spent and not whether it had in fact acted prudently in spending that money.

Manifest injustice

If the Court assumes that the company pled prudence, it cannot reach the conclusion that it proved prudence. The record does not support such a finding. But even if the company did offer proof of prudence (which it did not), additional facts indicating that the company was imprudent in its purchases of coal from Maxine Mine were not uncovered until the hearing in this case.

If the Court were to find that <u>res judicata</u> was applicable to this proceeding, there is an appropriate recognized exception to the rule that should be applied. In <u>Flesche v. Interstate</u>
Warehouse, 411 So.2d 919, 924 (Fla. App. 1st 1982) the Court found:

The doctrine of <u>res judicata</u>, which is equally applicable to the decisions of administrative tribunals and courts, is said to be an obvious rule of expediency, justice, and public

tranquility, and further: "Public policy and the interests of litigants alike require that there be an end to litigation, which, without the doctrine, would be endless." It is equally clear, however, that there are recognized exceptions in the application of the doctrine, one of which is that it will not be invoked where it will work an injustice. (footnote omitted)

In this case, there would be just such a manifest injustice if res judicata was applied. The company purchased fuel without regard to the advice of experts. It passed those excessive costs on as an average cost of fuel to the unsuspecting ratepayers through the fuel adjustment clause. It never raised the issue that the cost of that coal had risen to more than twice the cost of any other comparable coal. It was recovering dollar for dollar every expense dollar it incurred. The rule is well settled that the sole purpose of the doctrine of res judicata is to end litigation "in the interest of the state" but the interest of justice dictates whether the doctrine should be applied.

As we stated in Gordon v. Gordon, supra, it is not proper, technically speaking, to consider the doctrine of res judicata as a branch of the law of estoppel. The basic principle upon which the doctrine of res judicata rests is that there should be an end to litigation and that "in the interest of the State every justiciable [sic] controversy should be settled in one action in order that the courts and the parties will not be pothered [sic] for the same cause by interminable litigation." 59 So.2d at page 44; italics supplied. Nevertheless, when a choice must be made we apprehend that the State, as well as the courts, is more interested in the fair and proper administration of justice than in rigidly applying a fiction of the law designed to terminate litigation.

<u>Universal Construction Co. v. City of Ft. Lauderdale</u>, 68 So.2d 366, 369 (Fla. 1953).

Here the interests of justice demand that the imprudence of the company be reviewed and the attempt to hide behind an unsubstantiated pleading to pass on improper costs to the ratepayer not be used to shield the company's acts.

Lack of Issue

The doctrine of <u>res judicata</u> will not bar an adjudication of an issue that did not exist at the time of the first judgment.

Res <u>judicata</u> is a rule of convenience, the purpose of which is to prevent relitigation over matters that have been decided and have remained unchanged factually and legally.

The doctrine of res judicata as to the finality of the judgment and the doctrine of law of the case as to the binding effect of interlocutory orders in litigation are rules of convenience 'designed to prevent repetitious law suits over matters which have once been decided and which have remained substantially static, factually and legally (and must give way where there has been a change in the fundamental controlling legal principles). It is not meant to create vested rights in decisions that have become obsolete or erroneous with time.' Clearly, a judgment is not <u>res judicata</u> as to rights which were not in existence and which could not have been litigated at the time the prior judgment was entered.

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